IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

ELIZABETH MARTINEZ-GENOVA,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. SC04-2365

The Florida Bar File Nos. 2003-70,374(11D) 2004-70,316(11D) 2005-70,067(11D) 2005-70,269(11D)

The Florida Bar's Initial Brief on Appeal

VIVIAN MARIA REYES

Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 004235 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Ave., Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS

Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 253847 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (850) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This matter was heard by Judge Caryn C. Schwartz, serving as referee. The Bar and the Respondent stipulated to a significant portion of the factual background. The final hearing was held on June 9, 2005; June 10, 2005; June 20, 2005; and August 16, 2005. The parties stipulated to the following facts:

 Respondent is and was at all time material herein a member of The Florida Bar, albeit suspended by an order of emergency suspension dated October 20, 2004, and subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of the Supreme Court of Florida.

<u>As to Count I of The Florida Bar's Complaint</u>

 The Miami Branch Staff Auditor of The Florida Bar conducted an examination of Respondent's Operating Account maintained at SunTrust account #1000000846781 ("SunTrust Account"), for the period of June 21, 2003, to August 23, 2004.

3. The audit was predicated upon the complaint of Richard M. Brenner, Esquire, on behalf of three (3) clients identified as Juan Armendia and Eduardo Solares (as principals), and Nikita Investment Corporation ("Nikita Investments") (collectively "complainants"). Nikita Investments was involved with Charter One Group, Inc. ("Charter One") to obtain \$35 Million to fund the acquisition of a pulp plant and saw mill in Guatemala ("the Loan").

- 1 -

4. On February 12, 2004, the complainants sent \$8,000.00 to Respondent's SunTrust Account.

5. On February 14, 2004, Charter One issued a Conditional Loan Commitment to obtain the Loan which was signed by Nikita Investment and Gary Wyckle, President of Charter One. Paragraph 13 of the agreement stated, among other things, that the borrowers would deliver \$60,000.00 to Charter One's attorney to be held in trust and credited to loan fees at closing. Respondent did not sign this agreement; however, Respondent represented Charter One in this transaction.

On February 19, 2004, the complainants sent \$52,000.00 to
Respondent's SunTrust Account, for a total sent to Respondent of \$60,000.00 by complainants.

7. The lender did not fund the loan. On April 16, 2004, complainants demanded Respondent and Gary Wyckle to refund the escrowed funds.Respondent failed to respond to complainants' request.

8. On May 26, 2004, there was a release agreement signed by complainants and Gary Wyckle which was never consummated.

9. On August 28, 2004, complainants' attorney, Richard Brenner, filed a complaint with The Florida Bar.

- 2 -

10. Respondent was incarcerated on June 5, 2004 and remained in custody until she was transferred to St. Luke's Addiction Recovery Center, an inpatient drug treatment facility, in July, 2004. Respondent remained in St. Luke's until successfully discharged in September, 2004.¹

11. On August 31, 2004, a *subpoena duces tecum* was served on SunTrust Bank to produce copies of all documents pertaining to Respondent's SunTrust Account and any trust accounts in which Elizabeth (Martinez) Genova had signatory capacity, bank statements, canceled checks, items deposited with its corresponding deposit slips, wire transfers, cashier's checks issued with supporting documentation, and any debits or credits posted to the above referenced account(s), for the period of July 1, 2003 to August 31, 2004.

12. SunTrust Bank delivered Respondent's bank records to The FloridaBar. The branch auditor's review of the bank records are detailed in the following paragraphs:

A. On October 24, 2003, Respondent received in her SunTrust account a wire transfer in the amount of \$15,000.00 from an individual identified as John Gavin, a client from Valdosta, Georgia. From those funds Respondent transferred \$6,700.00 to Gary Wyckle, the president of Charter One, withdrew

¹ After 3 weeks in treatment, St. Luke's may approve passes outside its facility.

\$8,100.00 in cash, paid \$55.00 in bank charges, and \$145.00 was withdrawn by Respondent through over-the-counter withdrawals.

B. On February 13, 2004, Respondent received the first wire transfer from complainants in the amount of \$8,000.00. Respondent used some of the funds through the ATM machine and on February 17, 2004, withdrew \$7,700.00 in cash depleting the funds deposited. The balance in the account on February 17, 2004 was \$18.82.

C. On February 20, 2004, Respondent received another wire transfer from complainants in the amount of \$52,000.00. These funds were used in the following manner:

02-23-04	Wire Transfer to Gavin & Associates	\$ 15,103.00
02-23-04	Withdrawal by Respondent	4,500.00
02-23-04	Withdrawal by Respondent	8,000.00
02-25-04	Wire Transfer to Arrowhead Golf Club	5,000.00
02-27-04	Wire Transfer to Charter One Group	6,000.00
02-27-04	Withdrawal by Respondent	6,050.00
02-27-04	Withdrawal by Respondent	6,600.00

D. Respondent used the rest of the money for things such as:

withdrawals, Walgreens, Hair Cuttery, Eckerd, Sally Beauty, Royal Budabar, UPS,

etc. The balance in Respondent's operating account on February 27, 2004 was \$327.50.

E. During the period of May 13, 2004, to August 13, 2004,

Respondent received funds from the following individuals:

a)	05-13-04	Intercontinental Petroleum	\$ 15,000.00
b)	05-26-04	Acero Industrial	10,000.00
c)	07-15-04	Marco Martinez Manzueta	15,000.00
d)	08-11-04	Francesco Filippone	10,000.00
e)	08-13-04	WMB Seattle	9,800.00 ²
		Total	\$ 59,800.00

F. From these funds, Respondent transferred a total of \$53,850.00 to American Escrow Company LLC, owned by Gary Wyckle, \$139.00 was used to pay bank charges, and the balance of \$5,811.00 was withdrawn by Respondent in cash.

The registered address of American Escrow Company is a box in a UPS store.

14. On September 22, 2004, a subpoena was duly served and executed upon Respondent commanding her to appear before the branch auditor on October4, 2004 at 10:00 A.M. at The Florida Bar offices and produce the bank records

² This is the return of a prior wire transfer.

listed in the subpoena issued on August 31, 2004, and in addition, the original files related to the following transactions:

A. John Gavin, Valdosta Ga., \$15,000.00 received on October 24,2003.

B. Helicopteros del Norte, La Lima, \$8,000.00 received on February 13, 2004.

C. Juan Aramendia, Guatemala, \$52,000.00 received on February 20, 2004.

D. Gavin & Associates, Ga., \$15,103.00 transferred on February 23, 2004.

E. Arrowhead Golf Club, Caro MI., \$5,000.00 transferred February 25, 2004.

F. Charter One Group, \$6,000.00 transferred February 27, 2004.

G. Intercontinental Petroleum, Allen TX, \$15,000.00 received on May 13, 2004.

H. Acero Industrial, Santiago D.R., \$10,000.00 received on May 26, 2004.

I. Marcos Martinez Manzueta, Santiago D.R., \$15,000.00 received on July 15, 2004.

J. Francesco Filippone, La Julia, \$10,000.00 received on August 11, 2004.

K. WMB, Seattle, WA, \$9,800.00 received on 08/13/04, and \$9,750.00 on 08/24/04.

L. American Escrow Company, transferred \$34,400.00 on 07/28/04, \$9,800.00 on 08/13/04, \$9,750.00 on 08/24/04, and \$9,650.00 on 08/26/04.

15. On October 4, 2004 at 10:00 A.M., Respondent called the branch auditor and advised that she did not have any of the records listed in the subpoena.However, the branch auditor told Respondent to appear to discuss the matter.

16. Respondent appeared at 11:00 A.M. on that same date, and produced nothing. Respondent told the branch auditor that all the money except for her three percent fee was given to her client.

As to Count II of The Florida Bar's Complaint

17. On or about June 20, 2002 at approximately 3:00 A.M., Respondent was arrested as a result of traffic violations.

18. Respondent was searched incident to her arrest. Police discovered that Respondent had in her possession a baggie containing cocaine, marijuana, and drug paraphernalia.

19. As a result of the occurrences of June 20, 2002, *State v. Elizabeth Martinez-Genova*, case no. F02-18047, was filed in Miami-Dade Circuit Court on July 11, 2002, charging Respondent with one count of cocaine possession, one count of cannabis possession (0-20), and one count of possession of drug paraphernalia.

20. Contained in the court file for case no. F02-18047 are two handwritten notes signed by Respondent.

21. In both notes, Respondent requests Judge Rosinek to allow her to be placed in a drug program and in one of the notes Respondent admits to a "drug use" problem.

22. On or about July 3, 2002, Respondent was arrested for sale of cocaine to a confidential informant that occurred on or about May 2 and 22, 2002. Once arrested, police searched Respondent and discovered a small baggie that contained cocaine.

23. As a result of the occurrences set forth in paragraph 22 above, *State v*. *Elizabeth Martinez-Genova*, case no. F02-19437B was filed in Miami-Dade Circuit Court on August 2, 2002, charging Respondent with two counts of possession of cocaine with intent to sell/deliver, and one count of cocaine possession. Respondent admits to the purchase and possession of cocaine, but not the sale of cocaine.

- 8 -

24. On June 4, 2004, the police went to Respondent's residence. Once inside, the police observed baggies containing cocaine residue.

25. As a result of the occurrences of June 4, 2004 and while cases F02-18047 and F02-19437B were still pending, Respondent was again arrested and charged with one count of possession of cocaine and possession of drug paraphernalia resulting in the case of *State v. Elizabeth Martinez-Genova*, case no. F04-17146.

26. Case nos. F02-18047 and F02-19437B remain pending. Case no.F04-17146 was dismissed on December 3, 2004. These cases are still pending in drug court.

27. Based upon the foregoing, Respondent has violated Rule 4-8.4(b) (A lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

28. Respondent is genuinely remorseful.

In addition to the foregoing stipulations, the following evidence and testimony was presented:

Eduardo Solares, one of the owners of Nikita, testified that he entrusted Respondent with \$60,000 because he felt the money would be safe. (T. 40, 41). While Mr. Solares never met Respondent, his trust in her was furthered through

- 9 -

correspondence exchanged between them. (T. 30-31). Mr. Solares would have never agreed to send the \$60,000.00 directly to Charter One because he did not know them. (T. 40-41). Wyckle recommended that Mr. Solares send the money to Respondent, who was Charter One's attorney. (T. 41). Mr. Solares did not know Respondent personally, but relied on the fact that she was an attorney. (T. 40-41). Mr. Solares felt more comfortable because there was an attorney involved in the transaction. (T. 40). Mr. Solares specifically stated "because here as in any part of the world, when one has an attorney, one feels safer and more comfortable." (T. 41). He also stated, "well, when there's an attorney in the middle of any type of business, one feels more comfortable and for the good development of business -developing the business because when there's an attorney in the middle, you feel more comfortable." (T. 40). Mr. Solares received a letter dated February 11, 2004, signed by Respondent, confirming the terms of the verbal agreement, and requesting an \$8,000.00 deposit to Respondent's bank account. (T. 30-31, TFB Ex. 1). The loan commitment agreement was signed on February 15, 2004. (TFB Ex. 2). Paragraph 13 of that loan commitment agreement specifically sets forth that the \$60,000.00 sent to Respondent would be held in trust by her. (TFB Ex. 2). Although Respondent did not sign the loan commitment agreement, she referred to it in the letters she sent to Nikita. (TFB Ex. 1, 2, 3). Mr. Solares received a letter dated February 19, 2004, signed by Respondent requesting Nikita to wire transfer

\$52,000.00 into Respondent's bank account. This letter also confirmed the terms of the loan commitment agreement. (T. 41, TFB Ex. 3). Mr. Solares' understanding was that Respondent would hold the \$60,000 in trust. (T. 94, 95). A couple of months after transferring the money to Respondent, Mr. Solares wrote Respondent and Wyckle demanding the return of the \$60,000.00 because the terms of the agreement had not been met. (T.45, TFB Ex. 6). During cross examination, Respondent's counsel asked whether Charter One, through its agent, Mr. Wyckle, had timely offered Nikita a standby letter of credit. (T. 83). Mr. Solares testified that the standby letter of credit provided by Mr.Wyckle could not be verified by any bank. (T. 83-85). Additionally, there was a release agreement signed by Wyckle and Nikita which provided that from the \$60,000.00, \$45,000.00 would be refunded to Nikita Corporation if certain conditions were met. (T. 50, TFB Ex. 7). Although the conditions set forth in the release agreement were satisfied by Nikita, neither Respondent nor Mr. Wyckle ever returned \$45,000. To this day no part of the 60,000.00 has ever been refunded. (T. 51).

The Bar called Branch Auditor, Carlos Ruga, who having reviewed Respondent's operating account opined that Respondent assisted in a fraud and in so doing she misappropriated money entrusted to her by third-parties. (T. 207, 210-216). Mr. Ruga attested to each financial item identified in the stipulation of the facts. (T. 188-205). He pointed out that the money transferred by third-parties into Respondent's account would be disbursed or withdrawn by Respondent within a day or two of receipt. (T. 188-202, Stipulations). Mr. Ruga specifically addressed the funds transferred to Respondent's account by Respondent's client, Gavin & Associates ("Gavin"). Gavin wire transferred \$15,000.00 on October 24, 2003 to Respondent. Respondent withdrew or disbursed those funds to herself, Charter One, or its designees practically on the same day. (T. 188, Stipulations). Another wire transfer came into Respondent's account from Nikita. Respondent used a portion of Nikita's funds to pay Gavin \$15,103.00. (T. 191-192). Ruga testified that Respondent explained to him that she would give cash to Wyckle. (T. 205). Furthermore, the bank statements reflect that shortly after receiving the wire transfers from third-parties, Respondent simultaneously transferred money to Charter One and its designees, and also personally went to the bank and made cash withdrawls. (T. 188-205, Stipulations).

Ruga personally verified that American Escrow's listed address was in fact a mailbox in a UPS store. (T. 201). Research revealed that Respondent was the registered agent for both Charter One and American Escrow. (T. 201). Additionally, research revealed that Wyckle was convicted of a felony involving a similar type of fraud. (T. 216, TFB Comp. Ex. 9). Ruga opined that based on his experience and review of the facts, Respondent and Wyckle were defrauding these third-parties by misappropriating their funds. (T. 207, 210-216).

Gary Wyckle testified that he hired Respondent to provide him with legal services. (T. 301). Wyckle asked Respondent to receive third-party funds into her bank account and disburse them in accordance with his instructions. (T. 303). Wyckle explained that Respondent was acting like a disbursing agent for those third-parties. (T. 303). Although Wyckle and Charter One had a bank account, Respondent agreed to receive these third-party funds on their behalf. (T. 370-371). Wyckle admitted that he requested the third-parties to send money to Respondent as a marketing strategy. (T. 371).

Wyckle met the owners of Nikita in Guatemala. (T. 313-314). Respondent knew Wyckle was going to Guatemala and that Nikita would wire transfer money into her account. (T. 314). Wyckle prepared the February 11, 2004 letter to Nikita that Respondent signed. (T. 320, TFB Ex. 1). This letter instructed Nikita to wire transfer the money into Respondent's bank account in accordance with the loan commitment agreement. The loan commitment agreement which Wyckle prepared and entered into with Nikita provided that the money Nikita sent to Respondent should be held in trust by Respondent. (T. 369). Irrespective of this agreement, immediately after receiving the money, Respondent would personally go to the bank and withdraw the cash for herself, for Wyckle, for Charter One, and for Wyckle's designees. (T. 378-381, Stipulations).³ Wyckle also testified that Respondent would transfer money to Charter One and its designees. (T. 378-381, Stipulations). In response to questions regarding the cash withdrawls made by Respondent, Wyckle testified that he could not remember how much cash Respondent gave him. (T. 377). Wyckle, however, admitted that he would occasionally go with Respondent to the bank to withdraw money. (T. 377). During the time Respondent was incarcerated due to a drug problem, Wyckle incorporated American Escrow because Respondent was no longer "functional" as his disbursing agent. (T. 381).

Ultimately, Wyckle did not obtain the financing required in the loan commitment agreement and Nikita demanded their \$60,000.00 be refunded. (T. 49, TFB Comp. Ex. 6). Further, Wyckle admitted to lying in an e-mail that he sent to one of Nikita's representatives. (T. 384-385, TFB ex. 10).

Wyckle agreed to return Nikita's money. (T. 50, TFB Ex. 7). Nonetheless, to date neither Respondent nor Wyckle have returned the money. (T. 51

Respondent testified that she went to law school in 1990 and got married in 1991. (T. 487, 489). In 1992, Respondent took a year off from law school due to depression. (T. 489-490). During this time Respondent admitted that she and her husband were using drugs. (T. 490). Respondent's husband had a severe alcohol

³ This pattern can also be observed with other third-party funds received by Respondent. (TFB Comp. 8).

and drug problem. (T 492). In 1994, Respondent worked with her husband, an attorney. (T. 493). Respondent graduated from law school and served as Federal Magistrate Judge Turnoff's legal intern. (T. 492). In 1995, Respondent gave birth to a son, failed the bar exam, and was experiencing marital problems. (T. 494). Respondent testified that in 1995, she used drugs only on weekends. (T. 497). Respondent admitted that on weekends she and her husband would buy an "eight ball" of cocaine (three and half grams) and share it. (T. 563). Respondent worked for an attorney between 1996 and 1997. (T. 498). Based on a recommendation from her employer, Respondent went to see a psychiatrist. (T. 498). The psychiatrist prescribed medication for Respondent's depression. (T. 498).

Respondent concealed her habitual drug use during The Florida Bar admission process on at least two separate occasions: first, when she applied in 1995 and then again in February, 1999, when Respondent chose to conceal her habitual drug use on a supplemental Bar application she filed with The Florid a Board of Bar Examiners. (T. 597-598). Respondent explained her failure to disclose her drug use in the Bar application by stating that she did not consider herself an addict. (T. 597-598). In 2004, Respondent told her drug counselors that she had been addicted to cocaine for the past ten years. (T. 139, 156, 566-567, 594).

Between 1994 and 1997, Respondent was dealing with her bar application. (T. 499). In 1997, the Florida Board of Bar Examiners required Respondent to attend an informal hearing. (T. 499). Respondent was required to be evaluated by a psychiatrist. (T. 499). One of the areas on which the psychiatrist focused was whether Respondent was forthright. (T. 500). As a result of the informal hearing, there were formal charges filed against Respondent as set forth in The Bar Specifications. (T. 501, R's Ex. G--sealed). Some of the specifications dealt with Respondent's bad credit. (T. 501). Also, there was an issue with the accuracy of her bar application. (T. 503, R's Ex. G--sealed). There was a supplemental specification that included Respondent's responsibility to keep her responses current. (T. 505). Respondent had her driver's license suspended, but did not notify the Bar. (T. 505, R's Ex. G--sealed). The matter was set for a formal hearing and Respondent and other witnesses testified. (T. 505). The Commission, after hearing the evidence, recommended Respondent's admission to the Bar. (T. 505). Respondent was admitted to the Bar in 2000. (T. 509).

In 2000, Respondent worked for an attorney for approximately four to five months, but was fired because of her heavy drug use. (T. 507-508). After being admitted to the Bar, Respondent started working for her husband again. (T. 509). Respondent filed a notice of appearance on the Pressman case - a case on which she had previously worked. (T. 509-510). Respondent also worked in her

- 16 -

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