IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC04-2365

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

ELIZABETH MARTINEZ-GENOVA,

Respondent/Appellee.

RESPONDENT-S ANSWER BRIEF ON APPEAL

NANCY C. WEAR

Attorney at Law 1234 South Dixie Highway, Suite 337 Coral Gables, Florida 33146 Telephone (305) 668-3004

Counsel for Respondent/Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was accused of holding Ain trust@funds of a third party that were sent to her operating account in February, 2004, to be held while her client sought to obtain a loan for the third party=s \$35-million pulp and papermill project. Those facts were stipulated to, although there is no dispute that Respondent had no knowledge of the contents of the Aloan commitment agreement@entered into between the third party and Respondent=s client, who was (although not known to her at the time) a convicted conman.

There is also no dispute that Respondent was at all material times suffering deeply from drug addiction and depression and their physical and emotional effects, while simultaneously reeling from the indictment, arrest, and incarceration of her husband, foreclosure on the family home, and the removal of her small son from her custody (followed by termination of all her visitation rights).

The gravamen of the Bars argument on review is that Respondent acted intentionally, that she stole the funds, and that she acted for her own profit. Thus, the Bar contends, Respondent must be disbarred, rather than suspended for three years

(with significant additional conditions), as the Referee has recommended.

The Referee heard four days of testimony, and reviewed nearly two dozen exhibits, mostly from the Bar. As would be expected, the Referees recommendations with respect to discipline are based, not only on the bare recitation of the stipulated facts, but also on her assessment of the witnesses=testimony, especially their credibility. An important witness at the hearings was Respondents client, the perpetrator of the Aadvance fee scheme@ which bilked Guatemalan investors of \$60,000, using the severely-addicted Respondent as the unknowing conduit, and her bank account as the vehicle, for that scam.

The Bars argument for disbarment urges the court to ignore the well-documented testimony which established that Respondent herself was a victim of a smooth and experienced criminal. The Bar castigates Respondent for failing to run a complete criminal background check on her client, although it points to no rule, case, or statute which would impose such a burden on a lawyer. Lawyers are obliged to exercise the same judgment in taking on a customer as any other businessperson, but that is all. A lawyer who did not know that she is a victim of a conman is in the same position as the other victims of his scam.

Another important witness for the Bar C and the person who caused the Bar to press for disbarment C was the Bar=s auditor, Carlos Ruga. No testimony was elicited from Mr. Ruga with reference to his qualifications to conduct an audit or issue an

opinion based on his findings. Neither his education nor his professional licenses or experience appear in the record. There is no evidence that he was qualified to give an opinion as to the existence or elements of financial fraud.

Indeed, Bar auditor Ruga wrongly concluded that Wyckle was operating a Asmall Ponzi scheme, when the evidence was that Wyckle was operating what is commonly known as an Aadvance fee scheme@ the Aborrower@is always someone who cannot get lending from any traditional lender, such as a bank; the Alender@ (Wyckle) presents himself as one who can find investors for such hard-to-place loans, and cheerfully agrees that the fee for himself will be Apaid at closing. @ Of course, the Aborrower@must front a Asmall@fee C in this case, \$60,000 C to cover Wyckle=s time and the documentation needed to obtain the loan. This Aadvance fee@will (of course!) also be credited against the Alender-see fee Aat closing. Also, as the final bait that sets the hook, the borrower is assured that the Adeposit@ will be held until closing C only the terms vary C Ain trust@ or Ain escrow@ or Aby my attorney.@ Of course, the Aloan@ never closes C as in this case, it is always due to some default by the Aborrower@ C so the Adeposit@is forfeited to Wyckle. (An additional Alegitimizing@factor of this con is that legitimate mortgage brokers, such as Respondent's brother, actually do charge an Aapplication fee@ of several hundred dollars, which is not refundable. Such a legitimate fee is easily confused, as Respondent confused it, with the Aadvance fee scheme,@in which the Aadvance fee@is thousands of dollars, and no loan is ever made.)

An additional factor which made this scheme an attractive one from Wyckless perspective was the probability that the bilked Guatemalan Aborrowers@ would never check his background, and would be unlikely to sue Wyckle in the U.S. (or report him to the police for grand theft). Indeed, the Aborrowers@ did not. Instead, they came after Respondent, the hapless lawyer who had no idea that any promises with respect to holding the funds Ain trust@ had been made (because she never saw the Aloan commitment agreement,@ either before or after it was signed; the Bar showed it to her months later).

Importantly, Respondents errors are in no way excused or minimized by the Referees recommendations, contrary to the Bars argument. Moreover, the three goals of lawyer discipline are plainly served by the Referees recommendations: (a) fairness to society (lengthy suspension, reinstatement only with proof of rehabilitation, and continued oversight, especially of client or third-party funds); (b) fairness to Respondent (proposed discipline is stringent but allows Respondent to retain hope of reinstatement and encourages wholehearted dedication to all aspects of rehabilitation); (c) proposed disciplinary provisions are deterrent in effect.

The Referee adhered to existing case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions when she concluded that, while a lengthy suspension and continuing oversight would be necessary, Respondent neither stole from her client (Wyckle) nor from the Ainvestors@ who paid Wyckle to get them a Aloan

commitment.[®] The Court is thus urged to affirm the Referees Report and Recommendations, and to issue its order accordingly.

ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS TO AUTHORITIES

BECAUSE THE REFEREE-S RECOMMENDATION AS TO DISCIPLINE HAS A REASONABLE BASIS IN EXISTING CASE LAW AND THE FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS, IT SHOULD BE APPROVED

Standard of review. While the scope of the Court=s review of a referee=s recommended discipline is broader than that afforded to the referee=s findings of fact, the Court Agenerally will not second-guess the referee=s recommended discipline as long as it has a reasonable basis in existing case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. See, e.g., Florida Bar v. Batista, 846 So. 2d 479, 484 (Fla. 2003); Florida Bar v. Temmer, 753 So. 2d 555, 558 (Fla. 1999); Florida Bar v. Mason, 826 So. 2d 985, 987 (Fla. 2002).

* * *

The Bar bases its argument for disbarment solely on Gary Wyckle=s Aadvance fee scheme,@5 as to which Ms. Genova was as much a victim as the actual

The auditor was incorrect in describing Wyckless scam as a Asmall Ponzi scheme, which involves paying large returns on the earlier investments, from the funds received from later investors. A Ponzi scheme collapses when the stream of Ainvestors dries up. Wyckless deals were not interdependent; in each case, he took a huge deposit, supposedly to cover the cost of finding loans, and claimed later that the Aborrower had defaulted, thus forfeiting the Adeposit C the Aadvance fee. (T 312-313) The refund to Gavin probably was a precautionary measure on Wyckless part: Gavin, alone among Wyckless victims, was an American located in Atlanta, close enough to pursue legal remedies and/or seek law enforcement assistance. Gavins satisfaction (and his silence) was further guaranteed by paying him a few dollars in

Aborrowers@such as Eduardo Solares.⁶ Ignoring contrary Florida precedent, the Bar urges the Court to disbar Ms. Genova, based on two irrelevant criminal cases⁷ and a New Jersey disciplinary matter with entirely different facts (and which itself drew forth a vigorous eight-page dissent).⁸

A. AWillful blindness@or Awillful ignorance@

The Bar is urging the Court to announce a new standard for lawyers, with respect to how much investigation of a client an attorney must perform in order to

Ainterest@ on his refunded Adeposit.@ (T 574, T 586-588)

- Solares was the only Avictim@ who testified. The Bar=s auditor testified that he had telephone contact with another alleged Avictim,@ Manzueta, who had paid \$25,000, but lost interest in him because he learned that Mr. Manzueta had no complaint to make. (T 205)
- Wetzler v. State, 455 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (defendant was in constructive possession of cannabis), and *U.S. v. Zimmerman*, 843 F. 2d 454 (8th Cir. 1987).
 - 8 In the Matter of Irizarry, 661 A. 2d 275 (N.J. 1995). Notably, none of

avoid being accused of, and disciplined for, what the Bar calls Awillful blindness@ or Awillful ignorance.@ The Bar admits that there is no precedent in Florida=s extensive disciplinary jurisprudence to support such a duty.

The cases the Bar cited in support of its position show that the concept of Awillful blindness@ has been accepted, with reluctance, in a tiny number of criminal cases, such as *Wetzler v. State*, 455 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), which bear no factual or legal relationship to the present matter. Wetzler, for example, had only to look in the trailer attached to his truck (or maybe even sniff the ambient air) to detect the presence of a substantial quantity of cannabis, so his claim that he Adidnt know@ was rejected by the jury, affirmed on appeal. Ms. Genova, in contrast, did ask her client Gary Wyckle if he was doing anything illegal, specifically drug-related or having to do with money laundering. (T 574 (Ms. Genova assured by Wyckle that funds were legitimate, and in particular, not involved in drugs or money laundering)) She also repeatedly told him that she would not hold any funds Ain trust,@ and not just because she did not have a trust account as such. (T 535, 536-537, 544-545, 589-590 (Ms. Genova told Wyckle and others that funds were not held Ain trust@))

Wyckle=s explanation, that the fee was legitimate and earned when received, was reasonable to her, based on her experience in her brother Julio Martinez=s

the headnotes in Irizarry, mention Awillful blindness@ or Awillful ignorance.@

mortgage broker business, where the loan application fee was earned and paid up front. The amount of the fee was larger, but the loans sought were much larger (in the tens of millions), too. (T 538-539)

The criminal courts are reluctant to approve convictions based on Awillful blindness@ unless there is an Aissue of exclusive control or access@ which resolves any doubt, as there was in *Wetzler*. *See also*, *Brayton v. State*, 425 So. 2d 88 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (the probable cause for the deputy to open defendants trailer after defendant claimed ignorance of the contents was the smell of the 2,000 lbs. of cannabis, plainly detectable from outside the trailer; that factor, combined with the defendants exclusive control of the trailer, provided the requisite proof of Awillful ignorance@). The court in *Wetzler* expressly limited the doctrine of willful blindness to Aconstructive possession@ of contraband. *Wetzler* at 513. The court in *Wetzler* did not even suggest that Awillful blindness@ ought to be applied in other contexts; manifestly, the Bar misspoke when it declared:

Wetzler weaves into criminal and civil law the concept of willful blindness; that is to say[,] that a basic knowledge of fact is not necessary to commit a violation of law. Id.

The Bar=s initial brief, at 33 (emphasis added). Wetzler did not discuss Acivil law@at all. What the Wetzler court did do was to urge caution in applying this doctrine, precisely because Awillful blindness@is Aan unstable rule,@Avery limited [in] scope.@

Wetzler at 513, fn 2 (quoting G. Williams, Criminal Law: The General Part, '57 at

157 (2d ed. 1961)).

The other case cited by the Bar is also a criminal case. *See U.S. v. Zimmerman*, 832 F. 2d 454 (8th Cir. 1987). The opinion does not reveal why the court read a Awillful blindness@jury instruction to the jury, but the instruction authorized such a finding only if the jury Afound, *beyond a reasonable doubt*, a conscious purpose to avoid enlightenment.@ Zimmerman formed a Achurch@ to avoid paying federal taxes to the IRS; he was subsequently charged with aiding in preparing and presenting fraudulent tax returns. Importantly, Abeyond a reasonable doubt@ is not the standard of proof in a Bar case, but the case is inapposite for other reasons too: there are no juries to instruct in a Bar case, the opinion in the nearly 20-year-old tax case is not from the Eleventh Circuit, and the Awillful blindness@ issue appears to have played little if any role in affirming the conviction (Awillful blindness@ was mentioned in the tenth of 14 headnotes).

The Bar=s desire to extend the concept of Awillful blindness@ to any lawyer disciplinary case is unsupportable, but even if some facts could be said to warrant such an extension, this case does not. Ms. Genova never argued that the money was not in her account, and she always acknowledged that it was wired there by Solares. The Referee decided, based on substantial competent evidence, that Ms. Genova did not

adequately safeguard the money, but not that she stole it.9

It is to urge adoption of this new Awillful blindness@standard by the Court that the Bar turned to cases from outside Florida. In doing so, the Bar stated,

The Standards for Imposing [Lawyer] Discipline themselves are designed to promote consistency among jurisdictions. Standards for Imposing Discipline 1.3. As such, Referees regularly consider case law from other jurisdictions.

Bars initial brief, at page 34, fn 5. The Bar cited no case or other authority in support of those global statements, choosing to ignore well-settled principles of *stare decisis* and comity. The Bar also disregarded the circumstance that the drafters of the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions drew heavily from Floridas experience, precisely because Floridas supreme court has a long tradition of writing opinions rather than issuing summary orders, and because Florida has long had the large membership numbers which make inevitable larger numbers of disciplinary cases arising from a broad assortment of factual contexts. *See* Standards, I.B.

The Bar repeatedly and erroneously implies that Ms. Genova kept some money other than her fee, which was a total of \$1,800.00 (3% of \$60,000). *See*, *e.g.*, Bar=s brief at page 36. Both Wyckle and Ms. Genova testified as to the amount of the fee, and that she did not obtain anything additional; there was no evidence to the contrary, and the Referee (who heard and saw them testify) believed them.

(Methodology; standards based in part on cases from eight jurisdictions including Florida which Apublished disciplinary cases from 1974 through June of 1984@).

Thus, the Bar=s proposal that the Court rely on cases decided in other states would lead the Court to disregard its own extensive body of precedents. For example, the Bar did not call the Court=s attention to *The Florida Bar v. Behrman*, 658 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1995), a Florida lawyer-discipline case that is virtually identical to this one on its facts, yet the Arecommended discipline@ of a 90-day suspension was further ameliorated by the Court, *nunc pro tunc*, to the date of the respondent=s emergency suspension. Behrman was persuaded by a former client, a loan broker, to accept deposits into his Atrust account.@ The deposits were described as deposits from prospective borrowers to cover the cost of Athe brokers applications for the letters of credit.@ *Id.* (This is precisely what occurred at bar.) But Behrman was also fully advised, unlike Ms. Genova, that if no loan was closed, Aat least 2/3 of the escrowed funds would be remitted [i.e., refunded] to each of the depositors and Behrman would get \$1,000 for each transaction.@ *Id.* at 96. Despite this express knowledge, Behrman disbursed the funds of borrowers to the broker (and took his own \$1,000 fee each), and, on being brought up on disciplinary charges by the Bar, he disingenuously claimed that all his files had suddenly gone missing, and that his Afaxes, mail, and telephone calls were frequently intercepted@by the loan broker, a non-lawyer

(Behrman had allowed him to share his office). *Id.* In addition to Behrman=s far greater ability to fully inform himself, and proof of far more actual knowledge, the total loss in *Behrman* far exceeded that at bar, too, but this Court found a 90-day suspension more than adequate.

The *Behrman* precedent, less than ten years old, provides ample basis to support the Referee-s recommendations with respect to discipline.

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